2

į.

#### IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRANDON FOSTER, APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF

v.

FRITO LAY, INC., *RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT*.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER PLLC DOUGLAS M. PALMER Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff

By DOUGLAS M. PALMER, WSBA #35198 Busick Hamrick Palmer PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 Ph. 360-696-0228

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

i

÷

Issue No. 1: Must the Court make an individualized assessment of the worker's ability to obtain work in his competitive labor market?

The Court of Appeals wrongly focused its analaysis of earlier cases (*Kuhnle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 12 Wn.2d 191, 120 P.2d 1003 (1942), *Fochtman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 7 Wn. App. 286, 499 P.2d 255 (1972), and *Spring v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 96 Wn.2d 914, 640 P.2d 1 (1982)) to emphasize a worker's "general" ability to obtain work. The Court of Appeals overlooked the requirement that obtaining work requires an analysis on the "particular" evidence on the worker's ability to obtain work in his/her labor market. *Leeper v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 123 Wn.2d 803, 818, 872 P.2d 507 (1994). The Court of Appeals wrongly affirmed the decision of the trial court by failing to analyze whether there was particular evidence Mr. Foster could obtain work in his labor market.

The Court should grant review to clarify *Leeper* through rejecting any use of the phrase "general" employability to obviate the need for specific evidence of a worker's ability to obtain work that accommodates his disabilities.

Issue No. 2: Where an injured worker meets his Thayer burden of proof he cannot perform any work, does the employer meet its Thayer burden when its evidence supports his ability to work with restrictions, but is silent on whether the labor market can accommodate those restrictions?

The Court of Appeals wrongly found Frito Lay presented sufficient evidence to meet its Thayer burden of proof in response to Mr. Foster's BRIEF OF APPELLANT 1 directed verdict motion. *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 187 Wn.2d 716, 731-32, 389 P.3d 504 (2017). The Thayer burden is the ordinary burden of proof to survive directed verdict.

In this case, the Thayer burden is proving whether or not an Mr. Foster can perform and obtain reasonably continuous gainful employment. *Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 812. Here, the Court of Appeals rendered the obtain prong superfluous because it conflated Mr. Foster's ability to perform work with his ability to obtain work. *Leeper* 123 Wn.2d at 818 (expressly overruling *Graham v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 71 Wn. App. 55, 856 P.2d 717 (1993), to the extent it held the "obtain" prong was superfluous).

The Court should grant review to clarify that for a worker to prove he is not employable, he must present evidence that he either cannot perform work or he cannot obtain work, due to the residuals of the injury. Whereas, the employer's Thayer burden is proving the injured worker can perform and obtain work despite the residuals of the injury. Frito Lay met its Thayer burden that Mr. Foster can perform some work, but it did not meet its burden Mr. Foster could specifically obtain that work.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court should grant review because the facts of this case are stark: there is no evidence on whether Mr. Foster can obtain work despite his claim-related restrictions. Granting review will permit the Court to emphasize the role of obtain evidence and which party's case is fatally flawed by its absence.

On April 20, 2010, Mr. Foster was driving a triple-trailer tractor

from the Frito Lay plant in Vancouver, Washington, to Hermiston, Oregon. (Certified Appeal Board Record "CABR" 11/6/14 Tr. pp. 40-41). The wind was blowing as Mr. Foster was unloading in Hermiston. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. p. 41). One or more slivers of metal were blown into his left/right eye. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. p. 41). Mr. Foster began experiencing double-vision. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. pp. 41-42, 43-44). After extensive treatment and testing, the double-vision did not diminish. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. p. 45). Instead, it continued to worsen. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. pp. 45-46). After trying various therapies, his attending physician, Dr. Bruce Wojciechowski, concluded the double vision was permanent. (CABR Dep. Dr. Wojciechowski pp. 19, 20-21, 28; p. 77). This appeal focuses on the evidence presented as to whether or not Mr. Foster's double-vision renders him unable to perform and obtain reasonably continuous gainful employment within his particular labor market.

#### 1. Mr. Foster's Thayer burden.

Mr. Foster testified about his experiences over the course of his claim, plus his current symptoms and restrictions. Mr. Foster explained he could still drive his personal vehicle under limited circumstances and he had to choose between double-vision and closing one eye.

Dr. Wojciechowki testified that Mr. Foster's double vision was proximately caused by his on-the-job injury on a more probable than not basis. (CABR Dep. Dr. Wojciechowski pp. 48-49). Dr. Wojciechowski opined the double vision permanently prevented Mr. Foster from returning to his job at injury, operating commercial vehicles. (CABR Dep. Dr. Wojciechowski p. 50 ln. 1-15).

ć

As summarized by the Court of Appeals, after all testimony was taken only five of the seven occupations remained at issue, with the trial court finding (as a matter of law) that Mr. Foster could not perform his job at injury and two of the remaining occupations. Dr. Wojciechowski testified Mr. Foster was permanently unable to perform any of the five occupations on a permanent basis due to his double vision. (CABR Dep. Dr. Wojciechowski pp. 50-58).

Dr. Wojciechowski's testimony was sufficient to meet Mr. Foster's Thayer burden of proof that he was permanently unable to perform and obtain reasonably continuous and gainful employment. This is because Dr. Wojciechowski disapproved Mr. Foster's ability to perform any of these occupations. If he could not perform these occupations, he cannot obtain them either.

Turning to Mr. Martin, the only vocational expert: he testified that Mr. Foster had the transferable skills to perform seven of the eight potential occupations identified in this record. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. p. 18, ln. 20-26 to p. 19 ln. 1-4). With one exception, nowhere did he express any opinion that Mr. Foster's competitive labor market could accommodate Mr. Foster's work restrictions.

The one exception identified by Mr. Martin was Mr. Foster's ability to obtain work as a pallet jack operator. It was his opinion that this job was not one found in the labor market unless it was paired with a merchandising/driving position. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. p. 29). It was his opinion that Mr. Foster was not capable of obtaining work as a pallet jack operator. This was because employers would not want the risk of a driver operating a company vehicle with double vision. (CABR 11/6/14 Tr. pp. 30-31). This opinion was unrebutted by Frito Lay, which means it was not possible for it meet its Thayer burden on Mr. Foster's partial directed verdict motion.

#### 2. Frito Lay's Thayer burden,

Once Mr. Foster met his Thayer burden of proof, it then shifted to Frito Lay. Frito Lay's burden was to prove that Mr. Foster was capable to perform and obtain reasonably continuous gainful employment, and that such work was available within his competitive labor market. Evidence alone of an ability to perform work is insufficient, unless that evidence was the injury imposed no restrictions upon Mr. Foster.

Frito Lay presented the testimony of two physicians, Drs. Shults and Baer, and lay testimony from investigators who surveilled Mr. Foster. Frito Lay did not present any expert vocational testimony. Medical doctors are not qualified to comment on a worker's ability to obtain work. Frito Lay's record is silent on whether there is a competitive labor market who would particularly hire Mr. Foster. *Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 818.

The investigators and video surveillance was introduced to cast aspersions on Mr. Foster's credibility. It showed Mr. Foster operating a personal vehicle, not wearing sunglasses, and picking up long pieces of lumber. Despite reading these surveillance reports and despite all of the doctors' other concerns about Mr. Foster's credibility, Drs. Shults and Baer diagnosed Mr. Foster with double vision proximately caused by the industrial injury. (CABR Disc. Dep. Dr. Shults p. 66; Dep. Dr. Shults p. 17; Dep. Dr. Baer pp. 20-21). The doctors also agreed Mr. Foster could not return to his job at injury. (CABR Disc. Dep. Dr. Shults p. 66; Dep. Dr. Baer p. 25, ln. 13-15).

Dr. Shults generally described Mr. Foster's work restrictions as follows:

I would not want him to work in an environment in which maintaining good depth perception was a requirement for his or others safety. A visually busy environment wouldn't necessarily meet that criterion. But if he says that he's having more difficulty maintaining control of his double vision in visually busy environments, I wouldn't refute that. And I would suggest that he not place himself in those kinds of situations, if he could avoid it.

(CABR Dep. Dr. Shults p. 25, ln. 10-17). Dr. Shults waivered on whether it was safe for Mr. Foster to work in a warehouse, around moving forklifts and conveyer belts. (CABR Disc. Dep. Dr. Shults p. 68; Dep. Dr. Shults pp. 26-27, 39).

Taken in a light most favorable to Frito Lay, Dr. Shults testimony approved Mr. Foster to perform the five occupations, but with restrictions proximately caused by the claim-related double vision. Dr. Shults' testimony did not answer the question of whether or not there were any employers who would accommodate (obtain) Mr. Foster's restrictions.

Dr. Baer also approved Mr. Foster to work the five occupations. (CABR Dep. Dr. Baer pp. 27 - 28). On cross examination, Dr. Baer did not waiver in those approvals, despite various identified job tasks that appeared to be inconsistent with having double vision and loss of depth perception. (CABR Dep. Dr. Baer pp. 32-35). Yet, Dr. Baer agreed Mr. Foster had claim-related restrictions:

Q. And is he capable of performing jobs that require constant near acuity, depth perception, field of vision and accommodation?

A. When you mention depth perception, I think that's -- that that [sic] he may not be able to accomplish.

(Dep. Dr. Baer p. 35, ln. 5-9). Therefore, when Dr. Baer's testimony is viewed in a light most favorable to Frito Lay, Mr. Foster could perform these five occupations with restrictions on his depth perception.

Dr. Baer and Shults' testimony met Frito Lay's Thayer burden only regarding Mr. Foster's ability to perform work, albeit with restrictions. It did not meet the Thayer burden that Mr. Foster could obtain work despite those restrictions. Frito Lay did not meet its Thayer burden of proof.

#### 3. Mr. Foster's Credibility

î

Mr. Foster acknowledges that a major element of Frito Lay's case lies in attacks of his credibility. The areas that his credibility was attacked regarded his visual acuity scores (20/25, 20/50, etc.), his alleged loss of visual field (black spots in his vision), and photophobia (light sensitivity). While credibility is always an issue of fact for the trier of fact to decide, all of these credibility attacks were collateral to his restrictions.

Not even Dr. Wojciechowski assigned any work restrictions to the visual acuity scores. Despite questioning Mr. Foster's credibility, Dr. Shults and Dr. Baer agreed he had depth perception loss sufficient to keep

him from maintaining a commercial driver's license. The credibility attacks should not be sufficient for the trier of fact to simply nullify the opinions offered by Drs. Shults and Baer that Mr. Foster does, legitimately, have claim-related work restrictions because of depth perception. Finally, Mr. Foster's credibility does not play any role in whether potential employers in his labor market can accommodate the work restrictions identified by Drs. Shults and Baer.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

As Plaintiff sought to have this matter decided below on a Motion for Summary Judgment and Motions for Directed Verdict, this Court should employ the same standards in determining whether there is any genuine issue of material fact presented in this case. *Tollycraft Yachts Corp. v. McCoy*, 122 Wn.2d 426, 431, 858 P.2d 503 (1993). The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial. *Preston v. Duncan*, 55 Wn.2d 678, 681, 349 P.2d 605 (1960). A motion for summary judgment must be granted if, after considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact and reasonable persons can reach but one conclusion. *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 690, 974 P.2d 836 (1999). A material fact is one on which the outcome of litigation depends. CR 56(c); *Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 128 Wn.2d 618, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996).

When reviewing a directed verdict ruling, this court applies the same standard as the trial court. *Chaney v. Providence Health Care*, 176 Wn.2d 727, 732, 295 P.3d 728 (2013). A directed verdict is appropriate if, as a

matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Chaney*, 176 Wn.2d at 732.

#### ARGUMENT

In 1994, this Court in *Leeper* added to its precedents, *Kuhnle*, *Fochtman*, and *Spring* that when proving entitlement to permanent total disability, the animating purpose of the factual and legal analysis was to "insure against the loss of wage earning capacity." Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 814. Therefore, to be employable, the injured worker must not only be capable of performing work, but capable of obtaining work. The *Leeper* Court specifically held the "obtain" determination was not superfluous, because disability hearings must focus on whether the "*particular* injured worker can obtain such a job." *Id.* at 818. (Emphasis in original).

Here, the Court of Appeals erroneously analyzed the appellate record for evidence of Mr. Foster's general ability to obtain work, rather than searching the record for *particular* evidence that employers in Mr. Foster's competitive labor market would and could hire someone to work these five occupations with diminished depth perception. See, Slip Opinion pp. 11-13. The Court of Appeals wrongly skipped that analysis because it relied upon this Court's pre-*Leeper* precedent that only required general evidence of being capable of obtaining work.

The Court of Appeals' error was two-fold: first, it did not require individualized evidence of whether Mr. Foster's competitive labor market could accommodate his restrictions; and second, it misapprehended the cases presented below by creating a false dichotomy between "general

9

employability" and "odd lot employability" when assessing whether an injured worker can obtain work.

The Supreme Court should grant review to clarify two questions not answered by its prior decisions: 1) when determining whether an injured worker can obtain work, must that involve an individualized analysis of that worker's specific labor market's ability to accommodate any claim-related disabilities; and 2) under the facts presented in this appeal, who bears the burden of proving whether the worker's labor market can accommodate his restrictions?

# 1. The Court should clarify that general evidence of employability is no longer valid.

The long arc of the Court's precedent on permanent total disability has been towards increasing individualization of the evidence and analysis. This culminated in the *Leeper* Court's whole person analysis. Unfortunately, the *Leeper* Court's requirement of individualized evidence has only been consistently applied to the "perform" prong but not to the "obtain" prong. Instead, the Court of Appeals analysis below does not go beyond a recitation that the injured worker must prove he cannot find work generally in his labor market. This is not the first time our appellate courts have failed to require particular labor market evidence. *See, Butson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 189 Wn. App. 288, 301, 354 P.3d 924 (2015); *Young v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 132, 913 P.2d 402 (1996); *Herr v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 74 Wn. App. 632, 636, 875 P.2d 11 (1994); *Valdez v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 33261-6-III, 2016 Wash. App.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

LEXIS 1753, at 13-14 (July 28, 2016).

Practitioners, the Board, and our courts know the trier of fact must understand the individual worker's response to an injury, the restrictions on their ability to perform work, combined with an analysis of the totality of their strengths, weaknesses, experience, education, and skills. In short, particular evidence on how the injury has affected the ability to perform work. Yet, that same individualized analysis has not been extended to whether an injured worker can obtain work in their particular labor market.

As highlighted by the Slip Opinion's analysis from pages 11 to 13, the same level of individualized analysis was not given to whether Mr. Foster could obtain work in his competitive labor market. Instead, in reliance on statements made in *Kuhnle*, *Fochtman*, *Spring*, and even *Leeper*, the Court of Appeals simply waived away Mr. Foster's arguments by only requiring generalized evidence of an ability to obtain work. Slip Opinion pp. 12-13.

The Court of Appeals also erroneously engaged in an analysis of the differences between "general" employment and "odd lot" employment. Slip Opinion pp. 13-15. Mr. Foster is not alleging he is only capable of odd lot employment, which is simply a special job, which is not found anywhere else in his labor market, created by an employer to allow him to work. Odd lot is an affirmative defense by employers who prove that despite a lack of general employability, there is an employer who will nonetheless hire the injured worker.

The Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals made

the same error it made in *Graham*, 71 Wn. App. at 64. As rejected by this Court in *Leeper*, the Court of Appeals assumed "the general availability of light or sedentary jobs in the labor market implies a *particular* injured worker can obtain such a job." *Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 818 (emphasis in original). Nowhere in the Court of Appeals' analysis of whether Mr. Foster met his burden of proof, did it analyze whether there was evidence he could obtain one of these five occupations. Slip Opinion pp. 13-16. The Court of Appeals again treated the obtain prong as superfluous.

The Court should grant review to reformulate its test or statement of what it means for an injured worker to be permanently totally disabled. A restatement will make a clean break from prior precedent that referenced the concept of general employability. Any reformulation should be clear there must be individualized evidence of the injured worker's ability to obtain work in his competitive labor market because of the residual disabilities arising from an on the job injury.

Employability is the overlap between three types of individualized evidence: work restrictions, transferable skills, and labor market. Employability exists where these types of evidence overlap, such as in a Venn diagram. See Appendix A. This formulation is not being made out of whole cloth by Mr. Foster. It is a summation of the regulations adopted by the Department that it uses to judge whether an injured worker is permanently totally disabled (e.g. not employable). These rules are contained in WAC 296-19A-010, 296-19A-070, and 296-19A-140.

The first circle of evidence, work restrictions, must be related in part

to the claim. As correctly provided for in WAC 296-19A-010(1)(c), an injured worker without claim-related work restrictions is *per se* employable, which renders the rest of this analysis moot. However, if there are claim-related work restrictions, as there are here, then there must also be an analysis of the worker's pre-existing medical conditions and restrictions arising from conditions. See WAC 296-19A-010(1)(a)(ii). This is part of the whole person analysis of *Leeper*.

The second circle of evidence is the injured worker's transferable skills, as those are accurately defined in WAC 296-19A-010(7)&(8). These are the existing experiences, skills, and education that makes a worker a candidate for hiring. This is also required by the whole person analysis of *Leeper*.

The third circle of evidence is the injured worker's competitive labor market, as that term is defined in WAC 296-19A-010(4) & (5). This is the evidence of what types of jobs that are available in the injured worker's labor market. What is available in Vancouver can be different than what is available in Seattle or Yakima.

Employability exists where these three types of evidence or circles overlap. Physical restrictions and transferable skills overlap where an injured worker's restrictions are not so severe as to prevent him from being able to use or apply his existing skills. A concert pianist who suffers a finger amputation lacks overlap between these two circles. But a construction worker with a bad back, may still be able to lift 35 pounds.

Transferable skills and labor market overlap where there is evidence

the worker's skills remain relevant in his local market and sufficient employers exist to hire someone like the worker. A worker may be a hobby blacksmith, making horseshoes at home, but would not be able to find work living in Seattle using those skills. But that construction worker may have worked retail three years ago and still knows how to operate a modern, computerized cash register.

Physical restrictions and labor market overlap where there is evidence that local employers can and do accommodate workers with restrictions similar to the injured worker's restrictions. A back injury may limit a worker to sitting 20-minutes at a time, but office-based employers accommodate that restriction with a sit-stand workstation. Or for that construction worker with a 35-pound lifting restriction, there is evidence of multiple construction firms that will still employ him despite that restriction. This is the process the Department already follows in WAC 296-19A-140.

Employability is demonstrated where an injured worker's claimrelated physical restrictions (plus pre-existing disabilities) still permit him to use his transferable skills in his local, competitive labor market and where employers in that local, competitive labor market will hire someone with the worker's skills and accommodate someone with the worker's restrictions. This is a better statement of what it means to be "employable." It creates a clean break from earlier formulations of general employability and preserves the particularized, individualized whole person analysis required by *Leeper*.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

14

In granting review, the Court should re-emphasize the necessary individualized assessment of a worker's specific ability to obtain work in his competitive labor market. It should clarify that employability exists where there is evidence of an overlap between the worker's restrictions, transferable skills, and labor market. If one of those circles do not overlap, the worker is not employable.

### 2. The burden rests on the worker to prove he is unemployable, Mr. Foster met his burden; Frito Lay did not.

The Court of Appeals also misanalysed and misapplied the burden of proof in its analysis of Mr. Foster's Motions for Directed Verdict. See Slip Opinion pp. 14-16. As this Court recently analyzed in *Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 731-32, burden of proof encompasses two different types of analysis. The one that should apply here is the Thayer analysis, because it is the type used to determine if a party has survived a motion for directed verdict. *Id.* at 731. It simply means, that if a party presents sufficient evidence, the presumption disappears. *Id.* 

It does, however, require the court to determine what is sufficient evidence in the context of this appeal. The Court of Appeals confused the parties' Thayer burdens of proof and the parties' burden of persuasion. As argued above, the Court of Appeals did not properly analyze whether the parties presented sufficient evidence because its application of general employability was so vague as to render the obtain prong meaningless.

The Court should grant review to disentangle what are the legal requirements of parties to meet their Thayer burdens in a permanent total disability case per RCW 51.32.060. The injured worker bears the initial burden to prove he is not capable of either performing <u>or</u> obtaining employment within his specific, competitive labor market. During his case-in-chief, Mr. Foster met that Thayer burden because Dr. Wojciechowski testified he was not capable of performing any work due to the claim-related double vision.

It is not necessary for Mr. Foster to present evidence on his ability to obtain work, because of the evidence he could not perform any work. Stated differently, if he cannot perform the work, he cannot obtain the work. Had Frito Lay made its own directed verdict motion at the close of Mr. Foster's case, that motion would have failed. Counter-factually, had Mr. Foster presented medical testimony there was some work he could perform, only then would he need to prove his inability to obtain work in his specific, competitive labor market.

Once Mr. Foster met his Thayer burden, it shifted to Frito Lay. The Court should grant review to hold that its burden is to prove Mr. Foster could perform <u>and</u> obtain work within his specific, competitive labor market. This standard is different than the worker's so long as their medical testimony establishes there remains claim-related restrictions or disabilities. They must not only prove the ability to perform work, but also the ability to obtain that work despite those claim-related restrictions or disabilities. If there are no claim-related restrictions, then as held in *Leeper*, 123 Wn. 2d at 815, the inability to obtain work is attributable to fluctuations in the labor market.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

16

Viewed in a light most favorable, Frito Lay proved Mr. Foster could perform the work required in these five occupations, but with restrictions due to his claim-related double vision. Therefore, to meet its Thayer burden of proof, Frito Lay was also required to demonstrate employers existed in Mr. Foster's competitive labor market, who would hire someone with his skills and would accommodate someone with his restrictions. It did not.

This failure has nothing to do with Mr. Foster's burden of persuasion. Mr. Foster concedes there is an issue of fact on his work restrictions. But that issue of fact is the degree of his work restrictions, not whether he has any at all. Even if the trier of fact agrees with Drs. Shults and Baer, this record is insufficient for it to conclude that Mr. Foster could obtain work in those five occupations despite his work restrictions.

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