FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/21/2017 2:35 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95172-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRANDON FOSTER,

Petitioner,

v.

FRITO LAY, INC.,

Respondent.

## DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES' ANSWER TO FOSTER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 29737 Office Id. No. 91022 Office of the Attorney General Labor and Industries Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7715

# **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Foster's petition for review should be denied as it fails to establish any basis for this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b) sets out four bases for seeking this Court's review. Foster makes no attempt to tie his arguments to any of those four standards, but broadly appears to contend either that

the opinion conflicts with one of this Court's decisions or that the case raises an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. *See* Pet. 9-20. But he establishes neither: the Court of Appeals followed this Court's decisions, and this case involves little beyond applying well-established principles regarding the substantial evidence standard to the record and as such it does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

At bottom, Foster's argument is that once he presented evidence that he was unable to perform gainful employment, the burden of proof shifted to Frito Lay to affirmatively establish that Foster can both obtain and perform gainful employment. Pet. 1-2. But this novel theory has no support in the case law and is contrary to the decisions of this Court, which put the burden of proof on Foster, not Frito Lay. The petition establishes no basis for this Court's review and it should be denied.

# A. The Court of Appeals Decision Followed Well-Established Principles and Did Not Conflict with the Case Law

The Court of Appeals applied this Court's decisions that workers bear the burden of showing if they are entitled to permanent total disability benefits. Workers who have appealed a decision of the Department generally bear the burden of proving their entitlement to benefits except in

a very limited set of circumstances, none of which is present here. See RCW 51.52.050, .115; Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1045 (1993); Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 34 Wn.2d 498, 505-06, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949). With regard to claims that a worker is permanently and totally disabled, workers bear the burden of proof in all but one circumstance: "odd lot" cases. See Ames v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 193 Wash. App. 215, 220, 74 P.2d 1027 (1938) (holding that burden of proof was on worker seeking finding of permanent total disability); Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 814-15 (recognizing that burden shifts from worker to employer if worker proves to be incapable of performing work of a general nature); Kuhnle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 12 Wn.2d 191, 198-200, 120 P.2d 1003 (1942) (adopting odd lot doctrine and explaining that it means that burden of proof shifts to employer if worker establishes that worker cannot obtain any generally available light or sedentary work).

Under the odd lot doctrine, when workers prove that they are incapable of obtaining or performing any employment that generally exists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The burden of proof is on the Department or a self-insured employer (1) when the Department alleges willful misrepresentation (RCW 51.52.050(2)(c)), (2) when the Department rejects a claim because it finds that the worker was committing a felony at the time of the injury (*Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Rowley*, 185 Wn.2d 186, 378 P.3d 139 (2016)), (3) when firefighters allege certain types of occupational diseases (RCW 51.32.185). None of those situations exists here.

in the labor market, and when the Department or the employer respond there is specialized work not generally available to workers but is available to this particular worker, the Department or employer must prove that the job is actually available to the worker. Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 814-15. But here, no party alleges that Foster is capable only of odd-lot work: Foster claims he is not capable of any sort of employment including specialized work, while Frito Lay asserts that Foster is capable of generally available employment. Pet. 16, Ans. 16-19. Indeed, Foster expressly disclaims reliance on the odd lot doctrine. Pet. 11. Foster wrongly argues that the Court of Appeals opinion created a "false dichotomy" when it distinguished between generally available work and special work. See Pet. 9-10. But the dichotomy is not a false one: it goes to the heart of the odd lot doctrine. The odd lot doctrine only applies if a worker establishes that the worker is incapable of obtaining or performing any generally available work and is at best capable of performing special work not generally available. Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 814-15. A court cannot determine if the doctrine applies without distinguishing between general work and special work.

Because the odd lot doctrine does not apply here, Foster had to prove one of two things: (1) that he is incapable of performing gainful employment or (2) that he is incapable of obtaining it. *Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d

at 814-15. Foster argues that by presenting evidence that he could not perform work, he shifted the burden on the employer to present evidence both that he could both obtain and perform such work. Pet. 16. But none of the cases Foster cites, including *Leeper*, suggests that the burden of proof shifts to the employer in anything other than an odd lot case. *Contra* Pet. at 15-19.

Leeper recognizes that workers bear the burden of proving that they are permanently and totally disabled and clarifies that workers can meet this burden by proving that they are unable to obtain work as well as by showing that they are unable to perform it. Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 810, 815. But contrary to Foster's suggestion, it provides no support for the idea that the burden of proof shifts to the employer once the worker presents any evidence supporting a permanent disability claim. Pet. 10-14. The only burden shifting that Leeper mentions is the burden shifting associated with the odd lot doctrine, which the parties agree does not apply here. Leeper, 123 Wn.2d at 814-15. Leeper provides no support for the view that Frito Lay had the burden of proof.

Foster cites to *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 187 Wn.2d 716, 731-32, 389 P.3d 504 (2017), which discusses the "Thayer" theory regarding how presumptions operate. Pet. 15-16. The Thayer theory only applies to rebuttable presumptions, not to a party's basic burden of proof, and the

Thayer theory is immaterial here because the outcome of this case does not depend on a rebuttable presumption but on what burden a worker bears when seeking a finding of permanent total disability. *See Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 731-32.<sup>2</sup>

This Court has long held that workers bear the burden of proving their entitlement to benefits, including permanent total disability benefits, except in odd lot cases. *See Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 814-15; *Harris*, 120 Wn.2d at 474; *Ames*, 193 Wash. App. at 220. Not only does Foster show no conflict, Foster's argument that the burden of proof shifted to Frito Lay is contrary to well-established case law.<sup>3</sup> Foster bore the burden of proof

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> And even assuming there was a rebuttable presumption at the outset of this case that Foster was employable, neither applying the Thayer theory to the presumption nor the Morgan theory to it would lead to the conclusion that Foster's presentation of evidence shifted the burden of proof on to Frito Lay. *Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 731-32. Under the Thayer theory, Foster's presentation of evidence would cause the presumption to disappear, while, under the Morgan theory, the presumption would continue to encumber Foster's case; in neither instance would the burden of proof shift from Foster to Frito Lay. *Id.* But more to the point, there is no such presumption here and thus no reason to ponder whether that presumption operates according to the Thayer or Morgan theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Furthermore, contrary to Foster's argument, the Court of Appeals opinion did not, as the *Graham* opinion did, erroneously comment that it is unnecessary to even consider whether a worker can obtain work. Pet. at 11-12. *Graham v. Weyerhaeuser*, 71 Wn. App. 55, 65, 856 P.2d 717 (1993), *overruled by Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 817-19. *Graham* predated *Leeper* and had an incorrect holding on the obtain prong of the test. *Leeper*, 123 Wn.2d at 817-19. But here, the Court of Appeals determined that substantial evidence showed that Foster could both perform and obtain employment. This analysis is entirely consistent with *Leeper*. Foster also points to regulations that outline how the Department decides if a worker should receive vocational assistance but the rules are inapplicable here. Pet. at 12-14. These rules relate to the process that vocational counselors should follow when preparing reports to the Department regarding a worker's employability and they do not determine what evidence an employer must present in an appeal involving a worker's request for a disability pension. Ans. 1; *see* WAC 296-19A-010, -065, -070, -140.

at all times and under no plausible theory of how rebuttable presumptions operate did that burden somehow end up on Frito Lay's shoulders.

# B. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Raised by the Application of Substantial Evidence Principles

Foster's position fails to raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court as RAP 13.4(b)(4) contemplates. Aside from his unsupported argument that the burden of proof shifted from him to Frito Lay, the case involves nothing more than a routine application of the substantial evidence standard.

Substantial evidence supports the superior court's finding that

Foster was not permanently and totally disabled and Foster was not
entitled to judgment as a matter of law on this issue. Frito Lay presented
medical evidence that Foster could perform six jobs with no restrictions
and Foster's own vocational expert conceded that he had the skills to do at
least five of those jobs based on his employment history. AR Baer
at 27-28; AR 11/6/14 at 18. Foster presented no vocational evidence
indicating that the jobs did not exist in Foster's labor market or that he
could not obtain them for some reason independent of his medical
restrictions. Based on the record and viewing the evidence in the light
most favorable to Frito Lay, a trier of fact could find in Frito Lay's favor.
Foster's argument that Frito Lay failed to meet its burden of proof falsely

presupposes that Frito Lay had such a burden. Pet. 15. Foster had the burden of proof and substantial evidence supports the jury's verdict against him.

No issue of substantial public interest is presented by reviewing the jury's routine application of the standards to prove a pension.

### V. CONCLUSION

Foster's novel theories neither show a conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion and the case law nor an issue of substantial public interest. His petition for review should be denied.